FILED
Sep 11, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 333124

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT,

V.

ERIC DANIEL CRUZ

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KARL F. SLOAN
Prosecuting Attorney
237 4th Avenue N.
P.O. Box 1130
Okanogan County, Washington

509-422-7280 Phone
509-422-7290 Fax

Branden E. Platter
WSBA #46333
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Statement of Facts.

Officer Troy McCormick is an officer with the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. [RP 6:6] He has been with the Department for approximately 15 years. [RP 6:20] On August 10, 2012 he was on duty patrolling the Similkameen River, west of Oroville, WA, just below the Enloe Dam. [RP 7:5] This area is patrolled approximately once a week while the salmon are running. [RP 7:12]

Officer McCormick was on patrol alone. [RP 8:5] This particular area is framed by high canyon walls. [RP 8:14] In Officer McCormick's experience, this area has extremely poor radio and cellular service. [RP 8:11-13] The cellular service is non-existent and radio signal is "sketchy." [RP 8:15-16] An officer has to move their vehicle around in order to get a radio signal to call out. [RP 8:17] This makes it difficult to call out for other officers if assistance is needed. [RP 8:19-21]

Officer McCormick observed Eric Cruz from an elevated cliff above the river and observed him for about half an hour. [RP 7:17-19] This was approximately 10:00 am. [RP 16:2] Officer McCormick has had prior casual contact with Mr. Cruz on a couple occasions over the prior two years, however Officer McCormick did not recognize Mr. Cruz on this particular day. [RP 16:4-21] Mr. Cruz was fishing with another

individual, Mr. Rose, believed to be a relative of Mr. Cruz. [RP 7:20-8:2]
The officer observed Mr. Cruz “snag” a fish and pull it out of the river.
[RP 9:2] “Snagging” is an illegal technique used to catch fish. [RP 9:5]
Officer McCormick did not see either Mr. Cruz or Mr. Rose engage in any
other illegal activity. [RP 18:7]

Officer McCormick returned to his vehicle and drove to the Enloe
Dam parking area. [RP 9:16-19] He contacted Mr. Cruz who had
returned to his vehicle by that time. [RP 9:19-20] At the time of this
initial contact, Mr. Cruz was alone and Mr. Rose was not present. [RP
9:24]

When the officer approached, Mr. Cruz was attempting to quickly
fill out his catch record card. [RP 10:3] Officer McCormick placed Mr.
Cruz under arrest for the gross misdemeanor crime of unlawfully snagging
salmon. [RP 10:14] Based on the circumstances and location, Mr. Cruz
was handcuffed. [RP 10:7] At this point, Officer McCormick and Mr.
Cruz were directly next to Mr. Cruz’s vehicle. [RP 21:12]

Officer McCormick asked Mr. Cruz if he had any firearms and
then searched his person incident to arrest. [RP 10:18-24] The officer
asked about firearms for officer safety because if he had any firearms on
his person when he was searching him, he wanted to know where they
were before he manipulated the firearm. [RP 11:8-11] At that point,

Officer McCormick subjectively did not believe that Mr. Cruz's possession of a firearm would constitute a crime. [RP 11:13-16]

When asked if he had any firearms, Mr. Cruz replied that he had firearms inside the vehicle. [RP 11:20] Mr. Cruz was placed in Officer McCormick's vehicle to secure him because of "[the] location and not knowing where the other subject was...." [RP 12:2] At that time, Mr. Rose came up to the vehicle as Mr. Cruz was being secured in the officer's cruiser. [RP 12:7] Officer McCormick asked him to stay away from the vehicle as he was wanting to know what was going on with Mr. Cruz. [RP 12:10-13] Mr. Rose was approximately 15-20 feet from Mr. Cruz's vehicle. [RP 28:1] At this point, the firearms were still in Mr. Cruz's vehicle and the vehicle was not secured. [RP 25:16-20] Mr. Rose was not handcuffed and was not restrained in any way. [RP 26:8]

At that point, Officer McCormick, "in order to secure the scene and for officer safety," retrieved the firearms from Mr. Cruz's vehicle and secured them in his patrol vehicle. [RP 12:13-15] There were two rifles in the backseat of Mr. Cruz's vehicle and a pistol next to the driver's seat. [RP 12:21] When Officer McCormick retrieved the firearms from the vehicle, his intention was only to secure them during the contact with Mr. Cruz. [RP 13:4] His intention was to secure them for the length of the contact and then return them to the vehicle at the conclusion of the

contact. [RP 13:9-10] At that point, Officer McCormick intended on citing and releasing Mr. Cruz. [RP 23:14] This particular crime is not something that he would typically book a person into jail for. [RP 24:15-18] Mr. Cruz was being cooperative during the contact. [RP 24:16] However, Officer McCormick is always cautious when releasing people, especially when there are firearms. [RP 24:21] According to Officer McCormick, even if an officer feels a subject is dangerous, but they do not have a legal basis to seize the firearms, officers will issue the defendant a ticket, make sure the firearm is unloaded and place it back in the defendant's vehicle. [RP 27:10-16]

During the course of the contact, after securing the firearms in his patrol vehicle, Officer McCormick ran Mr. Cruz through the radio. [RP 13:20] It was difficult to get a response from Washington State Patrol due to the low signal, but when he did receive a response, he was informed that Mr. Cruz had a felony conviction and therefore could not possess firearms. [RP 13:20-24] At that point, Officer McCormick seized the firearms as evidence. [RP 14:2] Mr. Cruz was later charged with three counts of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree. [CP 53-54]

In the trial court's ruling on the motion to suppress, the court focused heavily on whether Officer McCormick was in actual danger. The trial court stated

[A]t no time have I heard Officer McCormick indicate that he was in danger. Being cautious...he's just aware of the situation. I think there's a burden upon the State to show that he is basically in a dangerous situation...[T]he Court's not finding that in this case Officer McCormick was in danger.

[RP 46:6-10; 48:6-8] The trial court then held that this case was a search incident to arrest and therefore fell under *Gant*:

To search a vehicle, *Gant* was the initiating case at the Supreme Court level, but our State Court has held- there is [sic] cases throughout, including our own Division Three in [*Tamblyn*] case and others dealing with the search of vehicles and they talk about incident to arrest, but basically, again, there is no evidence that was going to be destroyed, so we basically turn is the issue officer safety [sic]? And although there's an abundance of caution here, the element risk when the Defendant has been removed basically comes within the purview of the *Gant* and its [progeny], including those cases that we find in Washington. Therefore, the Court opines that the removal of the guns and the seizure were a violation of Article 1, section 7 of our Washington State Constitution.

[RP 47:2-17]

The trial court issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

[CP 9-12] The trial court concluded that this case falls under *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332 (2004), and its progeny. [CP 11:13] According to the court, the State had not proven that Officer McCormick possessed a

reasonable belief based on specific and articulable facts which, taken together with the rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warranted him in believing that the defendant was dangerous and might gain immediate control of the weapons inside the defendant's vehicle at the time of the search and seizure. [CP 11:14-16] The court also concluded that the State has a burden to show an actual dangerous situation. [CP 11:17]. Therefore, the court concluded that the State had not proven an exception to the search warrant requirement by clear and convincing evidence. [CP 11:19-20]

II. Procedural History.

Eric Daniel Cruz was initially cited by citation for Unlawful Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, Possession of Marijuana less than 40 grams, and Unlawful Recreational Fishing in the First and Second Degree. On November 1, 2012, the State dismissed that case from District Court without prejudice with the intent of refile in Superior Court with the added charge of Unlawful Possession of Firearms in the Second Degree.

On December 15, 2015, the State filed an Information charging Mr. Cruz with three counts of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree. [CP 53-55] On February 9, 2015, Mr. Cruz, by and through counsel, filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence. [CP 33-42] On

February 17, 2015, the State filed its response. [CP 22-32] Mr. Cruz, by and through counsel, filed a reply on February 25, 2015. [CP 17-21]

The hearing on the Motion to Suppress under CrR 3.6 was held on February 26, 2015. The trial court ruled in favor of Mr. Cruz and suppressed the seized firearms. [CP 7-8] A contested hearing on Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law was held on March 26, 2015. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Order Suppressing Evidence, and Order of Dismissal with Prejudice were filed on March 26, 2015. [CP 9-12; 7-8; 4]

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I. Assignments of Error.

1. The trial court erred in holding that this case is analyzed under *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332 (2004) and its progeny.
2. The trial court erred in holding that the State had not proven an exception to the warrant requirement by clear and convincing evidence.
3. The trial court erred in holding that the State has a burden to show an actual dangerous situation.
4. The trial court erred in holding that there was no danger to Officer McCormick sufficient to justify a search for officer safety.

II. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error.

1. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that this case falls under *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332 (2004) as a search incident to arrest rather than a protective search for officer safety under *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1, 726 P.2d 445 (1986), *State v. Larson*, 88 Wn.App. 849, 946 P.2d 1212 (1997), and *State v. Glossbrener*, 146 Wn.2d 670, 49 P.3d 128 (2002) or an exigent circumstances search under *State v. Smith*, 165 Wn.2d 511, 518 (2009).
2. Whether the trial court erred in concluding the State had not proven an exception to the warrant requirement given the evidence supporting an officer safety search and exigent circumstances search.
3. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that the State has a burden to show an actual dangerous situation existed in order to support an officer safety search.
4. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that there was no danger to Officer McCormick under the circumstances presented to Officer McCormick at the time of the search such to justify an officer safety search.

ARGUMENT

I. The search of Mr. Cruz's vehicle should be analyzed under *State v. Kennedy* and its progeny as an officer safety search rather than a search incident to arrest under *Arizona v. Gant*.

Appellant first assigns error to the trial court's determination that this case falls under *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332, 129 S.Ct. 1710 (2004) as a search incident to arrest. Appellant contends this case should have been reviewed as an officer safety search, distinct from a search incident to arrest. The court reviews a trial court's conclusions of law in an order pertaining to suppression of evidence de novo. *State v. Smith*, 165 Wn.2d 511, 516, 199 P.3d 386 (2009).

State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 726 P.2d 445 (1986) is the foundation case for protective searches of vehicles based on officer safety. In *Kennedy*, the defendant and a passenger were pulled over after an informant had provided information that the defendant had just purchased marijuana. *Id.* at 3. Prior to pulling the vehicle over, the officer observed the defendant lean forward as if to put something under the seat. *Id.* at 4. The officer approached the vehicle and removed the defendant from the vehicle. *Id.* The officer looked into the vehicle to identify the passenger and he reached under the front seat where he found a bag of marijuana. *Id.*

According to the Court, *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968) provides guidance for this type of stop and search. To begin with, it is well settled that an investigatory stop is reasonable when the officer has “specific and articulable facts, which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrants that intrusion.” *Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d at 5 citing *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21. Furthermore, “the same concern that justifies the frisk under a Fourth Amendment analysis, possible danger to the officer, justifies it under article 1, section 7.” *Id.* at 10.

The Court took the opportunity to distinguish this type of search from a search incident to arrest under *State v. Stroud*, 106 Wn.2d 144, 720 P.2d 436 (1986) overruled by *State v. Valdez*, 167 Wn.2d 761, 224 P.3d 751 (2009) (*Valdez* was Washington’s adoption of the holding in *Gant*, 556 U.S. 332). While *Stroud* provided some guidance, the Court pointed out that the scope of the search in *Kennedy* must be determined under a different framework. *Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d at 12. *Stroud* [and *Valdez*] involved an arrest, while a *Terry* stop is considerably different. *Id.* Thus, the Court expressly differentiated between a search incident to arrest under *Stroud* [and *Valdez*] and a protective search for officer safety taking place during a *Terry* stop. *Id.*

In its analysis under an officer safety search, the Court recognized that “[a]n officer conducting an investigative stop may be endangered not only by the suspect but by companions of the suspect as well.” *Id.* at 11. This means the officer may search for weapons within the investigatee’s immediate control. The Court also recognized that “such a limited search applies to any companion in the car because that person presents a similar danger to the approaching officer.” *Id.* at 12.

With regard to *Kennedy*, the officer had seen a furtive gesture sufficient to give him an objective suspicion that the defendant was hiding something under the front seat and the officer had no way of knowing what that was. *Id.* at 11. The Court held the search valid because from the officer’s perspective, there remained the initial gesture, the unknown object under the front seat, and the passenger inside the car who had easy access to the object. *Id.*

Building on the framework of *Kennedy*, the Division One Court of Appeals subsequently decided *State v. Larson*, 88 Wn.App. 849, 946 P.2d 1212 (1997) approved of by *State v. Glossbrener*, 146 Wn.2d 670, 49 P.3d 128 (2002). In *Larson*, the officer initiated a traffic stop of the defendant for speeding. *Id.* at 851. The officer observed the defendant leaning forward and making movements toward the floorboard of his truck. *Id.* The officer removed the defendant from the vehicle and placed himself

between the defendant and his vehicle. *Id.* The officer stuck his head into the cab of the truck through the open door to visually inspect the area around the driver's seat. *Id.* He saw heroin and drug paraphernalia in a pocket on the driver's seat. *Id.* The officer testified that if he had not found the drug-related items, he would have had Larson get back in the truck and would have proceeded with the usual activities involved in a traffic stop. *Id.*

Similar to *Kennedy*, the court recognized that this search was distinct from a search incident to arrest: "We first reject the State's attempt to justify the search as incident to arrest.... We address only the issue whether the search was justified by the concern for officer safety." *Id.* at 852.

Larson relied in part on *Michigan v. Long*, 463 U.S. 1032, 103 S.Ct. 3469 (1983), a United States Supreme Court case that held under the Fourth Amendment, it is clear that a reasonable concern for officer safety, sufficient to justify the search of an automobile incident to a *Terry* stop, may arise even in circumstances where a lone driver is outside the automobile and has no immediate access to the car. *Id.* at 852.

Relying on *Michigan v. Long*, *Larson* therefore expanded *Kennedy*, holding that whether the passenger was in the car or not was not dispositive of whether the officer's search was reasonable. *Id.* at 856.

In stopping a vehicle for a minor traffic infraction, a police officer is authorized and expected to ‘detain that person for a reasonable period of time necessary to identify the person, check the status of the person’s license, insurance identification card, and the vehicle’s registration, and complete and issue a notice of traffic infraction.’ The certificate of license registration, by law, must be carried in the vehicle for which it is issued. Typically, this document is kept within the passenger compartment rather than on the driver’s person. It was therefore reasonable for [the officer] to anticipate that as he continued to carry out the traffic stop, sooner or later he would have to permit Larson to return to the truck to retrieve documents. Because Larson would then have had access to any weapon he might have concealed inside before getting out, the protective search to discover such a weapon was not unreasonably intrusive.

Id. at 856. The court upheld the search based in large part on the fact that the defendant would be returned to the vehicle. *Id.*

The Washington Supreme Court then decided *Glossbrener*, 146 Wn.2d 670. In *Glossbrener*, an officer pulled over the defendant’s vehicle for a non-functioning headlight. *Id.* at 673. Before coming to a stop, the officer noticed the defendant reach down toward the passenger side of the car for several seconds. *Id.* Upon approaching the vehicle, the officer noticed signs of intoxication. *Id.* The officer asked the defendant why he had reached toward the passenger side of the vehicle. *Id.* The defendant admitted that he had reached over to hide an alcohol container. *Id.* The officer had the defendant step out and perform field sobriety tests which showed that he was not impaired. *Id.* at 674. The officer then searched

the passenger side of the car, the area in which he had seen the defendant reaching prior to coming to a stop for “weapons and other evidence.” *Id.* The officer found methamphetamine and the defendant was charged with possession of a controlled substance. *Id.*

The defendant argued that *Kennedy* only authorizes an officer to stop and frisk an occupant of a vehicle based on officer safety concerns, but does not permit the officer to search the interior of the vehicle. *Id.* at 677. The Court referenced the holding in *Kennedy* that “an officer [may] make a limited search of the passenger compartment to assure a suspect person in the car does not have access to a weapon.” *Id.* at 678. The Court again referenced the distinction between a search incident to arrest and a search based on officer safety. *Id.* The Court further reiterated that “the area to be searched may be expanded to include those areas within the immediate control of any passenger because a passenger ‘presents a similar danger to the approaching officer.’” *Id.* Further, the search of the passenger compartment of the vehicle is not dependent on the passenger remaining in the vehicle. *Id.*

The Court then referenced and approved of *Larson*, saying “the Court of Appeals has interpreted *Kennedy* to allow a search of the passenger compartment of a vehicle based on officer safety even though the driver was outside the vehicle and no passengers were inside the

vehicle. *Id.* “Because the officer was conducting a routine traffic stop, which required him to obtain the driver’s vehicle registration, Larson would eventually have to gain access to his truck in order to obtain the registration... Thus the officer’s concern for his safety was valid. *Id.*

In holding that *Larson* and *Kennedy* did not limit an officer’s ability to search the passenger compartment of a vehicle based on officer safety concerns to only situations in which either the driver or passenger remain in the vehicle, the Court established a clear guide stating “a court should evaluate the entire circumstances of the traffic stop in determining whether the search was reasonably based on officer safety concerns.” *Id.* at 679.

The Court recognized that *Kennedy* did not articulate a standard for courts to apply when determining whether an officer was justified in searching the passenger compartment of a vehicle for officer safety. *Id.* at 680. The Court analogized such an officer safety search to a *Terry* frisk, noting that such searches are justified when an officer can point to “specific and articulable facts which create an objectively reasonable belief that a suspect is armed and presently dangerous.” *Id.* The Court then held that a protective search for weapons must be objectively reasonable, though based on the officer’s subjective perception of events.

Id. This is the current standard for vehicle searches based on officer safety.

While the Court in *Glossbrener* did not find the officer's search of the passenger compartment to be reasonable based on the circumstances presented to the officer in that case, the Court differentiated the search from that in *Larson*. *Id.* at 684. In upholding the search in *Larson*, the Court specifically relied on the fact that Larson would have to return to his vehicle to obtain his registration in order to carry out the traffic stop, which in turn would give him access to any weapon he may have concealed inside the truck. *Id.*

Therefore, under the *Kennedy*, *Larson*, and *Glossbrener* line of cases, an officer may search a vehicle for weapons when there is an objectively reasonable possibility of danger based on the officer's subjective knowledge, taking into account such circumstances as whether there is a companion who has access to the vehicle and whether the defendant will be returned to the vehicle.

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