DEU 1112015

COURT OF AFPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By......

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

No. 333124

vs. ERIC DANIEL CRUZ

4 · 3-

Respondent.

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF** 

Submitted by:

RONALD A. HAMMETT, WSBA No. 06164 Attorney for Respondent P.O. Box 3940 Omak, WA 98841 Telephone: (509) 826-1918

##

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

#### B. ARGUMENT

The exclusionary rule requires that evidence obtained directly or indirectly through government violations of the Fourth Amendment may not be introduced by the prosecution at trial. *Map v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643 (1961). "It is the first principal of Fourth Amendment jurisprudence that the police may not conduct a search unless they first convince a neutral magistrate that there is probable cause to do so." *New York v. Belton*, 453 U.S. 454, 457 (1981). "[S]earches conducted outside the judicial process without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are *per se* unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment - subject only to a few specifically established and well delineated exceptions." *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967).

Exceptions to the warrant requirement fall into several broad categories: consent, exigent circumstances, searches incident to a valid arrest, inventory searches, plain view, and *Terry* investigative stops. *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, (1996). The burden is always on the state to prove one of these narrow exceptions. *Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d at 71.

1.

4

This is no easy task because "[t]he exceptions to the requirement of a warrant, including consent, are '"jealously and carefully drawn." *Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61 at 72 (1996) (quoting *State v. Bradley*, 105 Wn.2d 898, 902, 719 P.2d 546 (1986) (citing *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 443, 454, 91 S. Ct. 2022, 29 L. Ed. 2d 564 (1971). *State v. Ferrier*, 136 Wn.2d 103 (1998). Article 1, section 7 provides greater protection of a person's right to privacy than the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Ferrier*, 136 Wn.2d 69 n. 1, (1996). The state provision recognizes a person's right to privacy with no express limitations. *Ferrier*, 136 Wn.2d at 111; *State v. White*, 97 Wn.2d 92, 110 (1982).

In the present case, because the police did not have a search warrant, the burden is on the State to prove an exception to the warrant requirement by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Garvin*, 166 Wn.2d 242, 250 (2009) and *State v. Doughty*, 170 Wn.2d 57, 62 (2010). The State has failed to do so.

\*,

\* \*

Both the United States Supreme Court and the Washington State Supreme Court have repeatedly held, under facts similar to this case, that "after an arrestee is secured and removed from the automobile, he or she poses no risk of obtaining a weapon ..." *State v. Buelna Valdez*, 167 Wn.2d 761, 766 (2009); *Arizona v. Gant*, 566 U.S. 322, 129 S. Ct. 1710 (2009); *State v. Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d 177 (2012); *State v. Alfana*, 169 Wn.2d 169 (2010).

In Valdez, Clark County Sheriff's deputies stopped the defendant for a headlight violation. They learned Valdez had an outstanding warrant. They arrested Valdez, handcuffed him, and placed him in the backseat of a patrol vehicle. Valdez's passenger was asked to exit the vehicle.

They then searched the vehicle and found illegal drugs. The Court held, "... at the time of the search the arrestee was handcuffed and secured in the backseat of a patrol car. The arrestee no longer had access to any portion of the vehicle. The officer's search of his vehicle was therefore unconstitutional under both the Fourth Amendment and article 1, section 7." *Buelna Valdez*, at 778.

• •

Likewise, in *Alfana*, a Spokane County deputy stopped a vehicle at 3:39 a.m. after learning there was an arrest warrant for the passenger. The passenger was taken into custody and the driver, Alfana, was asked to step out of the vehicle. The officer searched the vehicle and found drugs which caused the deputy to arrest Alfana. The Court said the deputy did not have reason to believe that the arrested passenger posed a safety risk since she was already in custody at the time of the search. *Id.* at 178. The Court held, "... the deputy had no authority of law to search Alfana's vehicle because it was out of the reach of the

arrestee at the time". *Alfana* at 179. "Thus, the search violated article 1, section 7 of our state constitution."

\*.

• •

Buelna Valdez, Snapp, and Alfana rely on the United States Supreme Court's decision in Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 129 S. Ct. 1710 (2009). Gant had been arrested for driving with a suspended license, handcuffed, and placed in the back of a patrol vehicle. Cocaine was found in a jacket on the backseat of his vehicle. Because Gant could not have accessed this car to retrieve weapons or evidence at the time of the search, the search incident to arrest exception did not justify the search.

The Court, in *Gant*, said, "[p]olice may search a vehicle incident to a recent occupant's arrest only if the arrestee is within reaching distance of the passenger compartment at the time of the search or it is reasonable to believe the vehicle contains evidence of the offense of the arrest." The Court held "... *Belton* does not authorize a vehicle search incident to a recent occupant's arrest after

the arrestee has been secured and cannot access the interior of the vehicle."

, ,

The State argues that these cases merely dictate the rules regarding a search incident to arrest. The defendant, Mr. Cruz, argues that being arrested, handcuffed, and placed in the back of a patrol vehicle presents no different threat to officer safety if analyzed under *Terry v. Ohio*.

An investigatory stop or *Terry* stop is one exception the warrant requires. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). Such stops, which fall short of traditional arrests, are lawful when justified by a reasonable suspicion that a person is engaged in criminal activity. *Terry* at 21. Under *Terry*, if the officer who makes an investigatory stop has a reasonable belief that the detainee poses a threat to the officer's safety, he may conduct a limited pat-down, or frisk of a suspect's outer clothing. *Terry* at 27-28. The Court said the narrowly drawn authority to such a limited search exists where the officer has reason to believe that he is dealing with an armed "and dangerous" individual. *Terry* at 27.

In Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032 (1983), the Supreme Court expanded the area for a search incident to an investigatory stop to the inside of the passenger compartment of a vehicle. Once again, the Court pointed out the officer must believe that the person is armed "and presently dangerous". Long at 1047. The Court also limited such a search to situations where a suspect might gain immediate control of a weapon. The Court concluded that a search of the passenger area of a vehicle "... is permissible if the police officer possesses a reasonable belief based on 'specific and articulable facts which taken together with the rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant' the officers in believing the suspect is dangerous and the suspect may gain immediate control of weapons." Long at 1049. The Court pointed out that an officer remains vulnerable during a *Terry* investigation "because a full custodial arrest has not been effected." Terry at 1052.

\*.

\* \*

In the present case involving Mr. Cruz, the State presented no evidence that Mr. Cruz was believed to be

dangerous or that he could gain immediate access to the weapons while under arrest, handcuffed, and locked in the police vehicle. As indicated above, in *Gant, Buelna Valdez, Snapp,* and *Alfana*, it was held that when a suspect is arrested, handcuffed, and in a patrol vehicle, no "officer safety" issue is present.

٠.

. .

Washington also adopted the expansion of a *Terry* investigation to include the area inside an automobile. *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1 (1986). In *Kennedy*, police conducted an investigatory stop of Kennedy who made a suspicious furtive gesture by reaching under the front seat. Police looked under the seat where he had reached and discovered marijuana. The Court upheld the search on two grounds. First, the Court said the search was permissible under *State v. Stroud*, 106 Wn.2d 144 (1986), which authorized the search of a passenger compartment incident to arrest. *Stroud* was expressly overruled in *State v. Buelna Valdez*, 167 Wn.2d 761, 759 (2009). The second ground was a limited protective search under *Terry*. Like in *Terry*,

the Court limited the search to an area within the person's "immediate control."

\*,

• •

In the present case, Mr. Cruz was arrested, handcuffed, and in the officer's vehicle at the time of the search. The inside of Mr. Cruz's vehicle was not within his immediate control, so the search exceeded what is allowed pursuant to *Terry, Long* and *Kennedy*.

The State next claims the officer had authority to search Mr. Cruz's vehicle and seize weapons because there was another individual in the area, Mr. Rose. The State produced no evidence that Mr. Rose was believed to be dangerous or a suspect of criminal activity. In fact, the evidence was that he complied with the officer's request to stay away and was not involved in criminal activity. (RP 27 L 22 - RP 28 L 9).

The State further argues that despite the fact that the officer arrested Mr. Cruz, searched him incident to arrest, placed him in the officer's vehicle, and seized firearms from his vehicle, the officer actually intended to only cite and

release the defendant, as well as return the seized firearms to him. The State argues as a result Mr. Cruz, once released, would have access to the firearms which would present an officer safety issue justifying their original seizure. Here, the state relies on State v. Larson, 88 Wn. App. 849 (1997). Its reliance on *Larson* is misplaced. Larson, like Kennedy, involved a furtive gesture made during a routine traffic stop where the driver was asked to exit the vehicle. The Court held that because the detainee would need to get back inside the vehicle to obtain his registration during the stop, the officer was entitled to search the passenger compartment in the area of the furtive movement. The Court said "[t]he scope of the search is limited to the area of the vehicle defined by the suspicious movement observed by the officer." Larson at 857.

د <del>د</del> .

In the present case, there was no evidence of furtive movements and no evidence the officer had reason to believe Mr. Cruz was dangerous, nor was there any indication that Mr. Cruz would be allowed back into his

vehicle to retrieve documents during the contact with the officer. The officer clearly did not have an objectively reasonable belief that he was in danger if he intended to release Mr. Cruz and return the firearms to him at the time of release.

• •

1

The State also cites *State v. Chang*, 147 Wn. App. 409 (2008), a pre-*Gant* state decision upholding a vehicle search for weapons even though the suspect was in handcuffs but only two steps away from the vehicle door. The Court, in *Chang*, reiterated the rule that the search be only "within the investigatee's immediate control," citing *Kennedy* at 12.

Apparently, the Court felt the defendant in *Chang* was in the immediate control of the inside of his vehicle while handcuffed outside the vehicle. It is unclear whether such a result would be found after the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Gant*.

The State's next argument is that the search was lawful under the exigent circumstances exception of the warrant requirement. What is lacking is any exigency.

ر ¥ . •

**,** <sup>1</sup>.

The State failed to show by clear and convincing evidence the existence of exigent circumstances sufficient to justify a warrantless search of the accused's vehicle.

The United States Supreme Court has recognized exigent circumstances as an exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment. *Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U.S. 740, 753-54 (1984). In *Welsh*, the Court pointed to *Dorman v. United States*, 435 F.2d 385 (D.C. 1970) as the leading case on factors a court may look to in determining whether exigent circumstances exist, but specifically approved only gravity of the offense as relevant to the analysis. See *Welsh* at 751-75.

Numerous federal cases hold exigent circumstances do no exist where the offense is not a grave or violent offense. *Loria v. Gorman*, 306 F.3d 1271 (2d Cir. 2002) (exigent circumstances not sufficient when offense obstructing governmental administration); *U.S. v.* 

Washington, 573 F.3d 279 (6th Cir. 2009) (exigent
circumstances not present when offense criminal trespass); *Patzner v. Burkett*, 779 F.3d 1363, 1368 (8th Cir. 1985)
(exigent circumstances not present where offense DUI); U.S.
v. Johnson, 256 F.3d 895, 908 (9th Cir. 2001) (exigent
circumstances not present partly because only misdemeanor
offense); and Marshall v. Columbia Lea Regional Hospital,
474 F.3d 733, 746 (10th Cir. 2007); (exigent circumstances
not present when offense misdemeanor DUI).

ر کار ۱۹۰۰ ۱۹۰۶

In *State v. Tibbles*, 169 Wn.2d 364, 370 (2010), the Washington Supreme Court identified five circumstances that could be termed exigent circumstances: (1) hot pursuit; (2) fleeing suspect; (3) danger to arresting officer or to the public; (4) mobility of the vehicle; and (5) mobility or destruction of the evidence. The Court said the mere existence of exigent circumstances does not mean exigent circumstances justify a warrantless search.

"Exigent circumstances" involve a true emergency, i.e., "an immediate major crisis," requiring swift action to prevent imminent danger to life, forestall the imminent

escape of a suspect, or the destruction of evidence. *Dorman*, 435 F.2d 385.

The present case does not involve hot pursuit, flight, or possible destruction of evidence. Mr. Cruz, the defendant, was not a danger to the officer or a danger to flee because he was handcuffed in the back of the patrol car.

The present case involved a fishing violation. It was not a grave offense and it was not violent in nature.

For the exigent circumstances to apply, there must be a compelling need for immediate official action and no time to secure a warrant. *Michigan v. Tyler*, 436 U.S. 499, 509 (1978) and *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_ (2013), 1333 S. Ct. 1552, 1572 (2013).

Here, the State has presented no evidence that there was no time to secure a warrant, nor have they proven that probable cause exists for the search or that a true emergency existed. While communications in the area of the arrest were sketchy at times, the trial court found "there was no indication of a delay in communications on this day."

(CP 9-12, Findings of Fact 5).

• • •

> The State includes a discussion of protective sweeps in their argument concerning exigent circumstances. In *Maryland v. Buie*, 494 U.S. 325 (1990), the Supreme Court held that officers may conduct a limited protective sweep of "closets and other space immediately adjoining the place of arrest from which an attack could be immediately launched." *Id.* at 334-337. This sweep may be conducted only if officers have a "reasonable belief based on specific and articulable facts that the area to be swept harbors an individual posing a danger to those on the arrest scene." *Buie* at 337. The State presented no such evidence.

> The State has failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a well delineated exception to the warrant requirement justified this search. The State failed to prove Mr. Cruz was dangerous and that he was in a position to gain immediate control over the firearms. It is undisputed that at the time of the search, Mr. Cruz was arrested, handcuffed, and placed inside a police vehicle where he was

not in reaching distance of the passenger compartment of his vehicle. He posed no danger to the officer.

It is clear that the search was not part of any investigatory - *Terry* stop, but was in fact incident to the arrest of the defendant. Even assuming the encounter could be characterized as a *Terry* stop, the State failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the officer possessed a reasonable belief based on specific and articulable facts which, taken together with the rational inference from those facts, reasonably warranted the officer to believe that Mr. Cruz was dangerous and he might gain immediate control of the weapons at the time of the search as required by *Long*.

### C. CONCLUSION

The State has not proven an exception to the warrant requirement by clear and convincing evidence, and this Court should affirm the order of the trial court suppressing the evidence.